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Town/City:   Salem 

Place (neighborhood or village): Gallows Hills 
1, 3 & 5 Harmony Grove Rd, 60 & 64 Grove St. 
  
Name of Area:  Blubber Hollow 

Present Use:   Abandoned Industrial 

Construction Dates or Period:  1912 

Overall Condition: Poor 

Major Intrusions and Alterations:   
 N/A 

Acreage: 8.31 

Recorded  by: Robert H. Griffin, P.E. 

Organization: Griffin Engineering Group, LLC 

Date (month/year): December / 2012 
Locus Map 
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  Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.   
 If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form. 
 

 
Use as much space as necessary to complete the following entries, allowing text to flow onto additional continuation sheets. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION     
Describe architectural, structural and landscape features and evaluate in terms of other areas within the community.  
The project site is developed with six dilapidated industrial buildings remaining from the former Salem Oil & Grease Company.  The 
buildings consists of an office/storage building, barrel storage building, warehouse/sulfonation building, cooperage/finishing 
building, wastewater treatment building, and maintenance/storage building.  The oldest building (the office/storage building) on the 
northerly side of the North River Canal was constructed in approximately 1912.  Two enclosed bridge structures over the North River 
Canal connect the northerly office building to the manufacturing buildings located on the southerly side of the canal. 
 
The office building has a dilapidated wood and vinyl siding façade with many broken windows and vandalism.  The manufacturing 
buildings are generally constructed with a masonry brick or block façade.  The wastewater treatment building has a T-11 wood panel 
exterior and the maintenance/storage building has a corrugated metal exterior.  The building façades are generally consistent with 
other industrial building throughout the Blubber Hollow area.   
 
The landscape is generally overgrown and contains significant amounts of trash and debris.  The former industrial uses of the 
property contaminated site soils that need to be remediated as part of site redevelopment.              

 
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE      
Explain historical development of the area.  Discuss how this relates to the historical development of the community.  
Industrial  uses  of  the  property  began  in  the  1700’s,  and  continued  into  this  century.    In approximately 1712, descendants of Captain 
William Trask, who had constructed gristmills along the North River in Peabody, moved the gristmill operation downstream to the 
location of the current Grove Street culvert crossing.  The tidal gristmill is indicated on 18th and 19th century  maps  as  Frye’s  Mill.     
 
In the early 1800's tanneries were established along the banks of North River.  In the vicinity of the project site, the Frye’s  Tannery  
and Nabers Tannery were established on the southerly side of the river.    The  area  quickly  became  known  as  “Blubber  Hollow”  
because of the distinct odors associated with the booming tanning industry.  Historically, the tanneries discharged their waste into the 
North River.  In  the  1880’s, because of deteriorating health conditions along the river, the City of Salem channelized the river, 
creating the North River canal.  Also,  in  the  1880’s  a  railroad  line  was  constructed  along  the  canal  that extended into Peabody.   
 
The Salem Oil and Grease Company first occupied the 60 Grove Street parcel (northerly side of the canal) in 1912 which was land 
created (ie. Land is filled tidelands) by channeling the canal.  The company acquired the easterly portion of the 64 Grove Street parcel 
(southerly side of the canal) in the 1930's and expanded their operation.  The company then acquired the westerly portion of the 64 
Grove Street parcel and the 3 Harmony Grove Road parcel in 1965 from the Peter Sim & Sons Morocco Factory after it had burnt 
down.  The Salam Oil & Grease Company gradually expanded their operation toward the west until closing down in 2002 due to 
economic pressures and environmental concerns.  Enclosed please find several historic atlas maps documenting the use of the site 
from the late 19th century.  The site can be readily distinguished on the atlases by looking for the sharp bend in the North River Canal.  
Railroad tracks cross the canal at the site.          
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64 Grove Street Waste Water Treatment Building 

60 Grove Street Barrel Storage Building (Right).   64 Grove Street Finishing 
Building (Background) 



64 Grove Street Cooperage Building 

3 Harmony Grove Road Vehicle Bridge Over North River Canal 



64 Grove Street Finishing Building 

64 Grove Street Warehouse Building 
     



60 Grove Street Side of Office Building 

Railroad Bridge Over North River Canal.  
     



64 Grove Street Maintenance/Storage Building (No. 59 Building) 

64 Grove Street Cooperage Building 



August 1965  Site Photo 
     










